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 1.  TIME: 9:00  CASE#: MSC15-01701 
CASE NAME: REED VS. SCHULER 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR ORDER COMPELLING ATTENDANCE OF S. MCLETCHIE 
FILED BY WILLIAM J. REED 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The motion is denied without prejudice to bringing a future motion to compel on a showing of 
Code compliance, e.g. providing notice to all parties and on a showing of necessity.  The Court 
notes that third-party witness McLetchie, using self help, determined to ignore the subpoena and 
also not use proper procedure by seeking a protective order. 

 

2.  TIME: 9:00 CASE#: MSC16-00237 
CASE NAME: LIU VS. TONG 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS 
FILED BY AJW CONSTRUCTION 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Unopposed – granted. 

 

 

3.  TIME: 9:00 CASE#: MSC16-02087 
CASE NAME: RIVERA VS. JULES 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER 
FILED BY NAPOLEON RIVERA 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The Motion for Protective Order is denied.  The deposition of PMK of USAA to learn about 
discussions, facts and circumstances of the release signed by Mr. Jules is reasonably 
calculated to lead to discovery of admissible evidence in connection with obtaining information 
to contest affirmative defense to Mr. Jules’ Cross-Complaint.  Mr. Jules’ counsel has agreed to 
take the deposition at the USAA office in Arizona, and thus the deposition does not appear to 
create undue burden or expense. 

  

4.  TIME: 9:00 CASE#: MSC17-00597 
CASE NAME: US BANK N.A.  VS.  CFO2 WALNUT CREEK 
HEARING ON RECEIVER’S MOTION FOR ORDER APPROVING ACCOUNT AND REPORT 
FILED BY WILLIAM J. HOFFMAN 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Unopposed – granted. 
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5.  TIME: 9:00 CASE#: MSC17-02211 
CASE NAME: RIZZARDI VS. RIZZARDI 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1ST Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY RUSSELL RIZZARDI 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
              Defendant Russell Rizzardi’s demurrer to the Complaint is sustained with leave 
to amend as to the Second and Third Causes of Action.  The demurrer is sustained 
without leave to amend as to the First Cause of Action.  Plaintiff failed to allege facts 
sufficient to state a cause of action. 
 
 The limited role of a demurrer is to test the legal sufficiency of a complaint. It raises 
issues of law, not fact, regarding the form or content of the opposing party's pleading.  
Donabedian v. Mercury Ins. Co. (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 968, 994.  For purposes of a demurrer, 
all properly pleaded facts are admitted as true. Aubry v. Tri-City Hospital Dist. (1992) 2 Cal.4th 
962, 967.  “If the complaint states a cause of action under any theory, regardless of the title 
under which the factual basis for relief is stated, that aspect of the complaint is good against a 
demurrer.” (Quelimane Co. v. Stewart Title Guaranty Co. (1998) 19 Cal.4th 26, 38.) The 
demurrer is sustained if the complaint fails to state a cause of action under any possible legal 
theory.  (Sheehan v. San Francisco 49ers, Ltd. (2009) 45 Cal.4th 992, 998.)  
 
 Defendant Russell Rizzardi demurs to the complaint on the ground each cause of action 
fails to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action because on the face, each claim is 
barred by the statute of limitations set forth in Civil Code § 3439.09 (“Uniform Voidable 
Transactions Act”).  
 
 
1st C/A—Civil Conspiracy 
 
 As to the First Cause of Action, the demurrer is sustained without leave to amend on 
the ground the allegations show the claim is time barred, and Plaintiff failed to otherwise state 
a cause of action. 
 
 Plaintiff alleges she was harmed by Russell’s fraudulent transfer of assets and income 
to assure they were free from collection by Plaintiff.  She also alleges Colleen is responsible for 
the harm because she was part of a conspiracy to commit the fraudulent transfer.    
 
   In the amended complaint, Plaintiff lists 9 acts taken by Russell and Colleen in the 
furtherance of the alleged conspiracy. (Complaint, ¶72.)   The original complaint (filed on 
November 13, 2017) was filed more than seven years after the challenged child support order 
and real property transfers.  
 

1. August 12, 2009—transfer if Turrin (real property) to Colleen (Barred by absolute 
7-year S/L set forth in Civil Code § 3439.09(c).)  

2. August 13, 2009—transfer of Kensington (real property) to Colleen (Barred by 
absolute 7-year S/L set forth in Civil Code § 3439.09(c).)  
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3. August 14, 2013—Stipulation re Child Support Orders (Barred by 4-year S/L set forth 
in Civil Code § 3439.09(a).)  

4. August 21, 2009—Stipulation to Modify Child Support Orders (Barred by absolute 
7-year S/L set forth in Civil Code § 3439.09(c).)  

5. December 10, 2009—Colleen and Russell serve wage assignment on Russell’s 
employer (Barred by absolute 7-year S/L set forth in Civil Code § 3439.09(c).) 

6. August 21, 2009—Colleen filed a Petition for Custody and Support of Minor 
(Barred by absolute 7-year S/L set forth in Civil Code § 3439.09(c).)  

7. July 2, 2009—Transfer of Kensington Property (Barred by absolute 7-year S/L 
set forth in Civil Code § 3439.09(c).)  

8. July 2, 2009—Transfer of Turrin property (Barred by absolute 7-year S/L set forth in 
Civil Code § 3439.09(c).)  

9. March 17, 2016—Russell and Colleen enter two QDROs. (Not a tortious act.) 
  
 The seven-year statute of limitations included in Civil Code § 3439.09(c) is absolute and 
cannot be tolled by the “last overt act” doctrine.  “Expiration of the seven-year repose period in 
section 3439.09(c) completely extinguishes a party's right, not just the remedy of voiding a 
fraudulent transfer. [Citation.] That maximum limitation period is absolute and is not subject to 
tolling or delayed discovery.”  (PGA West Residential Assn., Inc. v. Hulven Internat., Inc. (2017) 
14 Cal.App.5th 156, 186.)   
 
 As to the filing of the Qualified Domestic Relations Order, on March 17, 2016, while 
the act may have occurred within the statute of limitations, Plaintiff has not alleged facts 
sufficient to state a claim for conspiracy.   
 
 “Conspiracy is not an independent tort; it cannot create a duty or abrogate an immunity. 
It allows tort recovery only against a party who already owes the duty and is not immune from 
liability based on applicable substantive tort law principles.” (Applied Equipment Corp. v. Litton 
Saudi Arabia Ltd. (1994) 7 Cal.4th 503, 514.)  The court in Chavers v. Gatke Corp. (2003) 107 
Cal.App.4th 606 explained, “The unstated premise for this conclusion, or perhaps a 
consequence of it, is that an allegation of conspiracy itself does not lay a predicate for 
substantive civil liability. The Supreme Court's Applied Equipment opinion plainly holds that 
before one can be held liable for civil conspiracy, he must be capable of being individually liable 
for the underlying wrong as a matter of substantive tort law. And that requirement, of course, 
means he must have owed a legal duty of care to the plaintiff, one that was breached to the 
latter's injury.” (Chavers v. Gatke Corp. (2003) 107 Cal.App.4th 606, 611-612.)  
 
 Here, Plaintiff has alleged no facts establishing Colleen owed a duty to Plaintiff. There 
cannot be a conspiracy of one person, Russell. 
 
 
2nd C/A—Fraudulent Transfer—Actual Intent to Hinder, Delay or Defraud a Creditor (Civil Code 
§ 3439.09(a)(1) and 3rd C/A—Constructive Fraudulent Transfer (Civil Code § 3439.04(a)(2) 
 
 The demurrer to the Second and Third Cause of Action is sustained with leave 
to amend.  
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 Plaintiff alleges she was harmed because Russell transferred property to Colleen 
in order to avoid paying a debt in excess of $600,000. Russell was made insolvent through 
the transfers.    
 
 As discussed above, with the exception of the QDROs filed on March 17, 2016, all the 
alleged transfers occurred more than seven years prior to Plaintiff filing this action.  Thus, they  
are barred by the absolute seven-year statute of limitations stated in Civil Code § 3439.09(c), 
except the transfer of the Turrin property, which barred is by the four-year S/L stated in Civil 
Code § 3439.09(a).  The Amended Complaint makes clear that all orders related to child 
support were issued in 2009.  The Judgment of Legal Separation was filed on October 29, 2010.  
Russell transferred properties in 2009 and 2011.   
 
 As to the QDROs regarding Russell’s retirement benefits with his employer, 
WestAmerica Bank, the filing of the Order may fall within the applicable statute of limitations, 
but Plaintiff has not alleged sufficient facts to state a cause of action for fraudulent transfer 
based on the filing of the QDROs. It appears Plaintiff included the act of filing the QDRO to 
support the civil conspiracy claim because it is the only overt act that falls within the statute of 
limitations period. Plaintiff alleges the filing of the QDROs is the final act in a chain of events 
constituting a civil conspiracy. (Complaint, ¶ 75.)  Plaintiff failed to include any facts to show how 
the act of filing the QDRO may independently support a claim for fraudulent transfer.    
 
 Moreover, it is not clear this action constitute a “transfer” with the meaning of Civil Code 
§ 3439.04. According to the statute, “the term ‘qualified domestic relations order’ means a 
domestic relations order--(I) which creates or recognizes the existence of an alternate payee's 
right to, or assigns to an alternate payee the right to, receive all or a portion of the benefits 
payable with respect to a participant under a plan…” 29 USCS § 1056(d)(3)(B)(i)(I). 
 
 Even if it does qualify as a transfer, Plaintiff has not alleged facts showing how 
the transfer of Russell’s retirement benefits to Russell’s wife is fraudulent with the meaning of 
Civil Code 3439.04. The demurrer is therefore sustained. 
 
 The Amended Complaint shall be filed and served on or before June 20, 2018. The court 
warns Plaintiff that it is not inclined to grant any further amendments, unless an extraordinary 
showing is made necessitating the amendment. 

 

 

6.  TIME: 9:00 CASE#: MSC17-02211 
CASE NAME: RIZZARDI VS. RIZZARDI 
HEARING ON MOTION TO STRIKE 1st Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY RUSSELL RIZZARDI 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
            Defendant Russell Rizzardi’s Motion to Strike the First Amended Complaint is denied.  
 
 Pursuant to CCP § 436, Defendant moves to strike the amended complaint 
on the ground it was untimely filed and not drawn in conformity with order of the court.  
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CRC, Rule 3.1320(i) provides: “If an amended pleading is filed after the time allowed, an order 
striking the amended pleading must be obtained by noticed motion under Code of Civil 
Procedure section 1010.” 
 
   On February 7, 2018, the court sustained Defendant’s demurrer to the original 
complaint and granted leave to amend.  Plaintiff had until March 1, 2018 to file and serve 
the amended complaint, but Plaintiff filed the amended complaint on March 6, 2018.   
 
 In its discretion, the court will allow the late filing in the furtherance of justice, pursuant to 
CCP § 473. The declarations submitted in opposition to the motion show the late filing was due 
to mistake on the part of fax filing service. 

 

 

7. TIME: 9:00 CASE#: MSC17-02211 
CASE NAME: RIZZARDI VS. RIZZARDI 
CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
May appear by CourtCall if Lines 5 & 6 are not argued. 

 

 

8.  TIME: 9:00 CASE#: MSC17-02461 
CASE NAME: EATON VS. BNSF RAILWAY COMPANY 
HEARING ON APPLICATION FOR ADMISSION PRO HAC VICE 
FILED BY BNSF RAILWAY COMPANY 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Unopposed – granted. 

 

 

9.  TIME: 9:00 CASE#: MSC17-02501 
CASE NAME: GARCIA VS. MULFORD 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL RESPONSES TO FORM INTERROGS. (SET 1) 
FILED BY JONATHAN GARCIA 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Hearing dropped by Court due to appointment of the Discovery Referee on 5/17/18. 
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10.  TIME: 9:00 CASE#:  MSC17-02501 
CASE NAME: GARCIA VS. MULFORD 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL RESPONSE TO SPECIAL INTERROGS.  (SET 1) 
FILED BY JONATHAN GARCIA 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Hearing dropped by Court due to appointment of the Discovery Referee on 5/17/18. 

 

 

11.  TIME: 9:00 CASE#: MSC17-02501 
CASE NAME: GARCIA VS. MULFORD 
HEARING ON MOTION TO DEEM MATTERS ADMITTED 
FILED BY JONATHAN GARCIA 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Hearing dropped by Court due to appointment of the Discovery Referee on 5/17/18. 

 

 

12. TIME: 9:00 CASE#: MSC17-02501 
CASE NAME: GARCIA VS. MULFORD 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL RESPONSE TO DEMAND FOR PRODUCTION  (Set 1) 
FILED BY JONATHAN GARCIA 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Hearing dropped by Court due to appointment of the Discovery Referee on 5/17/18. 

 

 

13.  TIME: 9:00 CASE#: MSC17-02501 
CASE NAME: GARCIA VS. MULFORD 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL RESPONSE TO DEMAND FOR PRODUCTION  (Set 2) 
FILED BY JONATHAN GARCIA 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Hearing dropped by Court due to appointment of the Discovery Referee on 5/17/18. 
 

 

14.  TIME: 9:00 CASE#: MSC17-02501 
CASE NAME: GARCIA VS. MULFORD 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR ORDER QUASHING EMPLOYMENT SUBPOENA 
FILED BY JONATHAN GARCIA 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Hearing dropped by Court due to appointment of the Discovery Referee on 5/17/18. 
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15.  TIME: 9:00 CASE#: MSC17-02555 
CASE NAME:  BIEAR VS. GIBBONS 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT 
FILED BY DAVID C. GIBBONS 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

Defendant David Gibbons’ demurrer is sustained without leave to amend.  

Plaintiff argues that Defendant did not comply with Code of Civil Procedure §430.41. In 

this case, the parties’ positions have been fully explained in their papers and requiring the 

parties to engage in an additional meet and confer is unlikely to change anyone’s position at this 

point. In addition, failure to comply with section 430.41 cannot be used as a reason to overrule 

or sustain a demurrer. (Code of Civil Procedure §430.41(a)(4).) Therefore, assuming Plaintiff is 

correct that Defendant failed to fully comply with section 430.41, the Court excuses any such 

failure and will rule on the merits of the demurrer.  

Defendant argues that Plaintiff’s complaint is not proper as a civil matter, but should be 

raised (if at all) in a family law action. The Court agrees.  

Courts have made clear that “family law cases should not be allowed to spill over into 

civil law… . Almost all events in family law litigation can be reframed as civil law actions if a 

litigant wants to be creative with various causes of action. It is therefore incumbent on courts to 

examine the substance of claims, not just their nominal headings.” (Neal v. Superior Court 

(2001) 90 Cal.App.4th 22, 25-26; see also, Burkle v. Burkle (2006) 144 Cal.App.4th 387, 394.) 

In Neal, the appellate court granted a writ and ordered the trial court to sustain a demurrer 

without leave to amend where the complaint was framed as claims for breach of contract and 

fraud, but was really a family law order to show cause. (Id. at 26.) 

The Court has reviewed Plaintiff’s complaint and finds that Plaintiff is suing Defendant for 
medical expenses related to the birth of their child. Such expenses are part of a child support 
order. (See Family Code §3900 [stating that the father and mother of a minor child have an 
equal responsibility to support their child]; see, e.g. Guay v. Superior Court of Los Angeles 
County (1957) 147 Cal.App.2d 764, 769 [“the allowance of hospital expenses for the expectant 
mother…is predicated upon the theory that such hospital and medical expenses are part of the 
child's right to support [citations].”].) Thus, regardless of the title Plaintiff gives her causes of 
action, the Court finds that what Plaintiff is seeking in her complaint are matters related to child 
support and therefore, they should be raised in the family law action. 
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16.  TIME: 9:00 CASE#: MSC17-02555 
CASE NAME:  BIEAR VS. GIBBONS 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Given the Court’s ruling on the demurrer, this hearing is off calendar. No appearances 
are required. 

 

 

17.  TIME: 9:00 CASE#: MSC18-00271 
CASE NAME:  ZHENG VS. GPS CAPITAL MANAGEMENT  
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL MEDIATION AND ARBITRATION 
FILED BY GPS CAPITAL MANAGEMENT, et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Hearing dropped by Court.  Stipulation Re: Mediation or Arbitration received 5/17/18. 

 

 

18.  TIME: 9:00 CASE#: MSC18-00557 
CASE NAME:  RENSHAW VS. DEUTSCHE  BANK 
SPECIAL SET HEARING ON OSC RE PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 
SET BY  NANCY RENSHAW 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Plaintiff’s request for a preliminary injunction is denied.  The temporary restraining order, 
issued on April 26, 2018, is hereby dissolved. 
 
 Plaintiff’s papers raise serious issues concerning the good faith of plaintiff’s legal 
positions, and the truthfulness of plaintiff’s supporting declaration.  Accordingly, if plaintiff timely 
contests this tentative ruling, plaintiff’s attorney of record, Vartkes Artinian, shall personally 
appear at the hearing.  An appearance by CourtCall, or a special appearance by an attorney 
who is not counsel of record, shall not be allowed. 
 
 The basis for this ruling is as follows. 
 
 A. Evidentiary Matters. 
 
 Defendants’ request for judicial notice is granted. 
 
 Plaintiff’s evidentiary objections are overruled.  Patrick Riquelme is a 
“Document Control Officer” for defendant Select Portfolio, and is familiar with defendant’s 
recordkeeping practices.  (Riquelme Dec., ¶¶ 1-4.)  While the Court suggests that defendants 
include a more detailed job description in future filings, defendants have established an 
adequate foundation for Mr. Riquelme’s allegations, and for the attached documents.  (See, 
Evid. Code, §§ 1552 and 1553; Aguimatang v. Cal. State Lottery (1991) 234 Cal.App.3d 769, 
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797-798 [computer records may qualify as business records for purposes of the hearsay 
exception;]; People v. Lugashi (1988) 205 Cal.App.3d 632, 640 [authenticating declaration may 
be made by “a person who generally understands the system's operation and possesses 
sufficient knowledge and skill to properly use the system”].)  Mr. Riquelme has adequately 
established his status as an “other qualified witness” for purposes of the business records 
exception, even though he is not formally designated as defendant’s custodian of records.  
(Evid. Code, § 1271, subd. (c). See, Jazayeri v. Mao (2009) 174 Cal.App.4th 301, 322.) 
 
 The Court notes that it has “wide discretion” in deciding whether business records have 
been adequately authenticated.  (Aguimatang, supra, 234 Cal.App.3d at 797.)  In the case at 
bar, plaintiff has failed to offer any reply evidence raising an issue concerning the accuracy of 
Mr. Riquelme’s allegations or the authenticity of the documents attached to Mr. Riquelme’s 
declaration.  This tacit concession on plaintiff’s part bolsters the Court’s discretionary decision to 
deny plaintiff’s objections. 
 
 B. The Weakness of Plaintiff’s Opening Declaration. 
 
 The Court would have denied plaintiff’s request for a preliminary injunction even in the 
absence of opposition evidence, based on the weakness of plaintiff’s opening declaration.  This 
is because “[i]f weaker and less satisfactory evidence is offered when it was within the power of 
the party to produce stronger and more satisfactory evidence, the evidence offered should be 
viewed with distrust.”  (Evid. Code, § 412.  See, Ellis v. Toshiba America Information Systems, 
Inc. (2013) 218 Cal.App.4th 853, 885-886.)  In addition, as discussed below, plaintiff has failed 
to provide the Court with the evidence that would be necessary to craft an equitable remedy. 
 
  1. Vagueness. 
 
 The key parts of plaintiff’s opening declaration consist of pure legal conclusions.  
Thus, plaintiff alleges as follows: 
 

9. I was ‘dual-tracked’ and improperly foreclosed on.  Defendants did not 
follow statutory procedures in foreclosing on me.  Defendants did not 
properly notify me that they were going to foreclose on the property.  
Defendants were negligent in the manner they serviced the loan and 
processed loan modification applications.  The acts taken by Defendants 
amount to unfair business practices. 

 
10. I submitted a Loan Modification application which was improperly 

handled.  The single point of contact that I was assigned, spoke to me on 
a single occasion.  I would call and leave numerous voice messages and 
speak to other representatives (not assigned to my case), but only once 
with my single point of contact. 

 
11. Furthermore, Defendants gave me the run around when it came to 

denying my loan modification application.  I was given contradictory 
information on numerous occasions. 
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Plaintiff does not provide a single date, a single description of an interaction, a single 
background document, the name of a single employee she interacted with, etc.  The legal 
rhetoric plaintiff does provide has no evidentiary value.  Further, plaintiff’s declaration refers to 
attached evidentiary exhibits, but no such exhibits are in fact attached to the declaration. 
 
  2. Materiality, Prejudice, and Causation. 
 
 Plaintiff has failed to establish a likelihood of prevailing on the issue of whether the 
alleged violations of the Homeowner Bill of Rights (“HBOR”) were “material.”  For analogous 
reasons, plaintiff has failed to establish prejudice or causation with regard to the non-HBOR 
causes of action, 
 

HBOR Materiality 
 

 Plaintiff is entitled to a preliminary injunction only against a “material” HBOR violation.  
(Civ. Code, § 2924.12, subd. (a)(1). See, Johnson v. PNC Mortg. (N.D. Cal. Aug. 12, 2014) 
2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 111846, p. 42 [“”even if there were [an HBOR] violation, it was 
immaterial”].)  Plaintiff’s opening declaration gives the Court nothing to work with on this issue. 
 
 Plaintiff affirmatively alleges that, in 2017, “I suffered the loss of my husband, which 
caused me financial troubles, and ultimately to miss my mortgage payments.”  (Renshaw Dec., 
¶ 4.)  Plaintiff does not go on to allege any information suggesting that her “financial troubles” 
have lessened, and that she currently has the financial resources that would likely have led to a 
commercially reasonable loan modification. 
 
 In particular, plaintiff alleges at the conclusion of her declaration that she was denied an 
opportunity to obtain a loan modification under the Home Affordable Modification Program, 
known as “HAMP.”  (Renshaw Dec., ¶ 17.)  However, plaintiff provides no information 
suggesting that she would likely have qualified for a loan modification under the applicable 
HAMP guidelines, such as the limit on the percentage of monthly income for modified loan 
payments and the “net present value” calculation.  While the Court has sympathy for plaintiff’s 
loss, defendants are not to blame for plaintiff’s financial troubles and her inability to make her 
mortgage payments. 
 
 The alleged violation of Civil Code section 2923.5 is not material, even if there were 
evidence that plaintiff might have qualified for a loan modification.  (See, Renshaw Dec., ¶ 13.)  
The alleged failure to initiate contact with plaintiff is moot, because plaintiff affirmatively alleges 
that she was in contact with defendant, was assigned a single point of contact, and submitted an 
application for a loan modification — which was denied.  (See, Renshaw Dec., ¶ 10 [“I was 
assigned” a single point of contact and “submitted a Loan Modification application …”]; ¶ 11 
[plaintiff was given “the run around” concerning the denial of her application].)  Thus, the basic 
purpose of section 2923.5, which is to put the borrower in contact with the servicer or loan 
beneficiary, has been served. 
 
 The alleged violation of Civil Code section 2923.7 also is not material, even if there were 
evidence that plaintiff might have qualified for a loan modification.  First, the Court notes the 
contradictory nature of plaintiff’s allegations: in paragraph 10, plaintiff affirmatively alleges that 
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“I was assigned” a single point of contact, while in paragraph 14 — again under penalty of 
perjury — plaintiff alleges that defendants “failed to furnish a SPOC.”  Second, plaintiff’s 
allegations of a violation consist of pure legal conclusions, and plaintiff affirmatively alleges that 
she is relying on the “mere failure to provide a SPOC,” rather than on a material HBOR violation 
that made a difference in plaintiff’s real world situation.  (Renshaw Dec., ¶ 14.)  Third, insofar as 
plaintiff’s declaration can be understood, the gist of plaintiff’s allegations is not that defendants 
failed to assign a single point of contact, but rather that plaintiff is dissatisfied with the 
performance of the un-named person who was in fact assigned; this is fatal to plaintiff’s legal 
theory, because any such unsatisfactory performance is not an HBOR violation.  Finally, 
the purpose of a single point of contact is to facilitate the borrower’s submission of an 
application for a loan modification, and regardless of any frustration plaintiff may have 
experienced during the process, plaintiff affirmatively alleges that she did in fact “submit a Loan 
Modification application,” which was denied.  (Renshaw Dec., ¶¶ 10-11) 
 
 Finally, while plaintiff makes a vague reference to ‘dual tracking,’ plaintiff fails to support 
this reference with even conclusory allegations.  Plaintiff alleges only that “I was dual tracked,” 
which is not sufficient to demonstrate the existence of even a technical dual tracking violation, 
much less a material violation.   Also, plaintiff has failed to allege that she ever submitted a 
“complete” application for a loan modification, which is a necessary precondition for any dual 
tracking violation.  And in any event, the prohibition against dual tracking expired at the end of 
2017, and no longer supports an HBOR cause of action.  (See, Civ. Code, § 2923.6.) 
 

Prejudice 
 

 The trial court will grant relief for violations of the nonjudicial foreclosure statutes only 
when such violations are prejudicial.  (See, Aceves v. U.S. Bank N.A. (2011) 192 Cal.App.4th 
218, 232 [notice of default’s designation of incorrect beneficiary not prejudicial]; Knapp v. 
Doherty (2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 76, 94-99.)  Plaintiff has failed to allege any such prejudice. 
 
 In particular, plaintiff alleges that she failed to receive proper notice of an assignment of 
the deed of trust, and of two substitutions of trustee.  (Renshaw Dec., ¶¶ 5-7.)  However, plaintiff 
does not go on to allege any facts suggesting that the failure to receive proper notice prejudiced 
her in any way.  Plaintiff affirmatively alleges that she came into default based on her “financial 
troubles,” and not based on any confusion as to where she should send her mortgage 
payments.  (Renshaw Dec., ¶ 4.) 
 

Non-HBOR Causes of Action  
 

 Plaintiff’s complaint purports to state causes of action (as yet untested) for breach of 
contract, breach of the implied covenant, negligence, and violations of the Unfair Competition 
Law.  However, plaintiff has not made even a token effort to support these legal theories in her 
opening declaration.  Plaintiff alleges only as follows: “Defendants have abused their rights as a 
lender, have engaged in unfair business practices, and have breached several promises as well 
as fiduciary duties to me.”  (Renshaw Dec., ¶ 16.) 
 

These conclusory allegation are obviously inadequate to establish the prima facie 
elements of any of the non-HBOR causes of action.  In particular, for the same general reasons 
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just discussed above, they fail to establish the element of causation.  (See, Graham v. Bank of 
America, N.A. (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 594, 614 [no UCL cause of action where “[the plaintiff’s] 
prospect of losing the home to foreclosure is the result of default, not the alleged conduct of 
defendants”].) 
 
  3. Equitable Relief. 
 
 Even if the Court were to find that plaintiff is entitled to a preliminary injunction, plaintiff’s 
opening declaration provides no evidence that would support the crafting of an appropriate 
equitable remedy, one that is fair to both sides.  (See, Davenport v. Blue Cross of California 
(1997) 52 Cal.App.4th 435, 454-455 [“[a] preliminary injunction is an equitable remedy, and … 
one who seeks equity must do equity”].)  In both her opening memorandum and her reply 
memorandum, plaintiff appears to contemplate that an indefinite preliminary injunction will issue 
with (1) no undertaking, and (2) no other conditions, such as the making of interim monthly 
payments and staying current on property taxes and insurance.  Plaintiff’s argument is 
exasperating, because plaintiff disingenuously conflates the issue of tender with the issue of an 
appropriate undertaking; the two concepts are completely distinct.  And in any event, plaintiff’s 
supporting declaration does not establish why this would be equitable. 
 
 With regard to the posting of an undertaking, plaintiff’s position is both contradictory and 
unsupported by evidence.  Thus, plaintiff sought an ex parte temporary restraining order on April 
26.  In her application, plaintiff argued that any requirement for an undertaking would be fatal to 
her attempt to prevent foreclosure.  However, this argument is not supported by any allegations 
in plaintiff’s supporting declaration.  Further, when the judge who considered the application 
required an undertaking in the sum of $ 2,500 as an alternative condition of the TRO, plaintiff 
posted the undertaking the following day. 
 
 Further, plaintiff’s position is contradictory in the following additional respect.  Plaintiff 
presumably wishes the Court to believe that plaintiff’s financial resources are sufficiently robust 
that plaintiff could make monthly mortgage payments under a HAMP loan modification.  Yet, 
despite the fact that plaintiff has not made monthly mortgage payments since some unspecified 
date in 2017, presumably setting aside in savings the money she otherwise would have used for 
this purpose, plaintiff argues that she is too penurious to afford even a modest undertaking.  
Both of those propositions cannot be true. 
 
 With regard to other conditions for injunctive relief, plaintiff fails to offer evidence that 
would allow the Court to craft an equitable remedy.  The Court does not know what plaintiff’s 
monthly payments were in 2017, what plaintiff believes the monthly payments might have been 
under a 2017 loan modification, what the fair market rental value of plaintiff’s residence is, 
whether property taxes are current and plaintiff intends to keep them current, whether plaintiff is 
maintaining hazard insurance with the loan beneficiary shown as an additional insured, etc. 
 

In sum, plaintiff’s opening declaration provides no evidence showing that it would be 
“equitable” to allow plaintiff to live rent-free in her residence for the several years this litigation 
may entail without the posting of a substantial undertaking and the imposition of appropriate 
equitable conditions.  This evidentiary deficit constitutes a fully independent ground for denying 
plaintiff’s request for a preliminary injunction, without regard to plaintiff’s showing on the merits. 
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 C. Defendant’s Opposition Evidence. 
 
 Defendant’s opposition declaration strongly supports denying plaintiff’s request for a 
preliminary injunction.  The key features are as follows. 
 
  1. Past Defaults. 
 
 Plaintiff’s opening declaration was drafted in such a manner as to create the impression 
that plaintiff first experienced financial difficulties following the death of plaintiff’s husband in 
2017.  In fact, however, plaintiff first came into default in 2010.  (Defendant’s RJN, Exh. 1.)  
Plaintiff then sought and obtained a loan modification agreement in 2012.  (Riquelme Dec., Exh. 
“A”.)  In this loan modification agreement, plaintiff represented as follows: “I am experiencing a 
financial hardship, and as a result, am either in default under the Loan Documents or a default is 
imminent.”  (Ibid.) 
 
 Despite the 2012 loan modification, plaintiff continued to have difficulties making her 
mortgage payments.  In March 2014, defendant Select Portfolio notified plaintiff that it was 
“considering you for a loan resolution option.”  (Riquelme Dec., Exh. “D”.)  There were also 
problems in January 2016.  (Riquelme Dec., Exh. “E”.) 
 
 Plaintiff’s failure to candidly address this long history of loan defaults, in her opening 
declaration, casts serious doubt on the truthfulness and good faith of that declaration.  Plaintiff 
was obviously attempting to create the false impression that her default in 2017 was solely 
the product of the death of plaintiff’s husband.  In fact, if there was a new default in 2017 
rather than an ongoing default dating back earlier (a fact which plaintiff does not establish), 
this 2017 default was only the latest example of plaintiff’s chronic inability to make her monthly 
mortgage payments. 
 
  2. Communications. 
 
 Plaintiff alleges that “none of the Defendants have contacted me, or attempted to contact 
me,” as required under HBOR.  (Renshaw Dec., ¶ 13.)  Defendant Select Portfolio’s opposition 
declaration establishes that this allegation is false; there were multiple contacts with plaintiff 
over a period of many years.  Thus, in January 2016 alone, defendant sent plaintiff two letters, 
spoke with her by telephone three times, and engaged in a “loss mitigation meeting” with 
plaintiff.  (Riquelme Dec., Exh. “E”.) 
 
 The most striking of these communications is that dated March 8, 2016, in which   
defendant Select Portfolio offered plaintiff a loan modification.  (Riquelme Dec., Exh. “F”.)  
Plaintiff offers no explanation for her failure to accept this offer.  (Renshaw Dec., passim.) 
 
 Plaintiff apparently submitted another application for a loan modification in 2017.  
Defendant Select Portfolio sent plaintiff two letters informing her that this application was 
incomplete.  (Riquelme Dec., Exhs. “G” and “H”.)  Plaintiff offers no evidence that she ever 
supplied the missing documentation.  (Renshaw Dec., passim.)  Thus, when defendant recorded 
a notice of default in December 2017, there was no “complete” application for a loan 
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modification pending, and no dual tracking violation. 
 
 The Court notes that this opposition evidence is particularly striking, because plaintiff 
makes no effort to refute it in a reply declaration.  If plaintiff had a good faith basis for asserting 
that plaintiff’s opposition evidence was inaccurate, or that it was misleading, she could have 
easily explained why in a reply declaration.  Plaintiff’s failure to do so is telling. 
 
 Rather than disputing defendants’ evidence, plaintiff appears to tacitly acknowledge its 
weight and significance.  Thus, in the reply memorandum, plaintiff felt compelled to formulate a 
new argument from whole cloth: that she “has noticed a change in her financial circumstances 
to a degree where she believes that she will be able to resume making reasonable mortgage 
payments.”  There is no evidence supporting this new argument in the opening declaration, and 
as noted above, plaintiff has declined to submit a reply declaration. 
 
 D. Analysis. 
 
 The Court has denied plaintiff’s request for a preliminary injunction on the ground that 
plaintiff has not shown any likelihood of prevailing on the merits.  On this point, the Court of 
Appeal has held as follows: 
 

In a practical sense it is appropriate to deny an injunction where there is no 
showing of reasonable probability of success, even though the foreclosure will 
create irreparable harm, because there is no justification in delaying that harm 
where, although irreparable, it is also inevitable. 

 
(Jessen v. Keystone Sav. & Loan Assn. (1983) 142 Cal.App.3d 454, 459.  Accord, Butt v. State 
of California (1992) 4 Cal.4th 668, 678.) 
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Vacated. 
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CASE NAME:  SCM SPECIAL FUND VS. OVERMAN 
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Unopposed – granted. 
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the effects of his injury. 
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